
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 30 December 2019. 
 01476 406080

Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

    

Tuesday, 7 January 2020 at 9.30 am
Witham Room - South Kesteven House, St. Peter's Hill, 

Grantham. NG31 6PZ

Committee 
Members:

Councillor Graham Jeal (Chairman)
Councillor John Dawson (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Philip Knowles, Councillor Ashley Baxter, Councillor Chris Benn, Councillor 
Louise Clack, Councillor Ian Stokes and Councillor Mark Whittington

Agenda
1.  Membership

The Committee to be notified of any substitute members.

2.  Apologies for absence

3.  Disclosure of interests
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting.

4.  Minutes of the meeting held on 19 November 2019 (Pages 3 - 11)

5.  Housing Delivery in South Kesteven
The Deputy Leader of the Council to provide an overview of the options 
available to promote housing delivery within the district.  The report seeks 
approval to pursue a selection process for a strategic partner to support the 
delivery of new homes and seeks the views of Companies Committee on the 
selection process

(Pages 13 - 51)

Companies 
Committee

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


6.  Work Programme 2019 20
The Committee to review the Work Programme for 2019 20

(Pages 53 - 54)

7.  Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent



Minutes
Companies Committee
Tuesday, 19 November 2019

Committee members present

Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Chris Benn
Councillor Louise Clack
Councillor John Dawson (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Graham Jeal (Chairman)
Councillor Philip Knowles
Councillor Ian Stokes
Councillor Mark Whittington

Officers Companies

Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations (Gary Smith) 
Head of Legal (Shahin Ismail)
Head of Finance (Alison Hall-Wright)
Head of Governance (Jo Toomey)

Other Members

Councillor Bob Adams
Councillor Phil Dilks
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew

DeliverSK

Jane McDaid (also for Gravitas)

East Midlands Building Control

Rob Howbrook

EnvironmentSK

Councillor Dr. Peter Moseley 

Gravitas

Harry Rai 
Richard Wyles 

InvestSK

Steve Bowyer 
Councillor Kelham Cooke 
Councillor Barry Dobson 
Paul Thomas 

3

Agenda Item 4



1. Membership

The Committee was advised that the Independent Group had given notice that it wished 
to substitute Councillor Moran with Councillor Knowles. This change would be formally 
ratified by Council at its meeting on 28 November 2019.

2. Disclosure of interests

No interests were disclosed.

Members agreed a proposal that would see the Monitoring Officer consulting with the 
Vice-Chairman of the Committee where items were proposed to be exempt under 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).

A request was also made that any reports submitted to the Committee should include a 
coversheet. 

3. Remit of the Companies Committee

In summarising the remit of the Committee, the Chairman emphasised that it was not for 
committee members to take on a role as if they were a company director. The role of 
the Committee was to provide oversight of the Council’s companies.

One member stated that they were particularly interested in the financial performance of 
the companies because they were funded through public money.

Reference was made to the involvement of the committee in the appointment of 
company directors, and some concern was raised that there may not be scope for the 
Committee to influence the choice of directors. It was noted that in the main the 
Committee would be able to approve, or withhold their approval of directors, as it 
considered appropriate however some of the companies’ articles of association set out 
individuals who were required to act as directors. The example was given of InvestSK, 
where the articles required the Leader, Deputy Leader and Chief Executive of the 
Council to sit on the board of directors.

4. InvestSK

The Chief Executive of InvestSK gave a presentation to the Committee, which covered 
InvestSK’s background, establishment and the outcomes achieved to date.

In its earliest iteration in September 2017, InvestSK was a brand rather than a 
company. It was an informal collaboration that focussed on business growth and 
investment, property and place-making. In June 2018 a formal Memorandum of 
Understanding was agreed, which set out InvestSK’s remit for the funding it received 
from SKDC. In October 2018, it began trading as a not-for-profit private company. 

Areas of activity that were set out in the Memorandum of Understanding included:

4



- Engaging with businesses to maximise growth and inward investment
- Leading on a collaborative approach to skills development
- Marketing InvestSK to existing and new businesses
- Developing a strategy to promote the district’s visitor attractions
- Exploring and optimising access to external funding opportunities
- Establishing a heritage regeneration programme across the district
- Leading on arts and cultural growth initiatives
- Leading on the enhancement of the district’s market towns
- Leading on an implementation plan for Grantham and masterplans for the towns

Interventions had then been put in place to address each theme.

A breakdown by theme setting out the funding provided by SKDC in 2018/19 and 
2019/20 was supplied. During the company’s early life, funding primarily covered staff 
and office overheads, then, as projects came on-stream it covered additional project 
staff.

The presentation also showed outputs against the objectives in the Memorandum of 
Understanding setting out achievements and the calculated economic impact. It was 
noted, however, that in some areas of activity, showing pure economic impact was not 
straightforward.

Members were advised that since its creation, InvestSK had built strong connections 
into the local business community; this had led to an increase in the number of local 
businesses that were exploring apprenticeships.

Reference was made to the number of vacant units in the town centres. Whilst the rate 
of empty units had seen a small increase, InvestSK considered the occupancy rate to 
be favourable in the context of performance nationally. It was also noted that a number 
of single sites skewed the figures.

Other outputs related to arts and culture, sports development, external funding for 
groups, marketing and additional funding related to specific projects, including the 
university centre in Grantham, and historic and future high streets funding. Members’ 
attention was also drawn to wider social and economic impacts against which a 
monetary value could not be put.

The presentation set out why InvestSK considered it to be beneficial for a private 
company to deliver this activity on behalf of the Council. Some of the reasons that were 
highlighted included: 

- The perception of the council 
- Engaging with a company was considered to provide quicker, easier access for 

businesses
- Businesses felt that they were dealing with a peer
- A culture of productivity that enabled an outcome-focused approach
- An external focus with confined areas of responsibility 
- Distinctive brand identity recognised by a lot of organisations

5



- Costs of providing the service were considered to be lower than the same service 
provided by the Council because the pension liability was less and the company 
could negotiate on salaries for individual staff

- The ability to learn and adapt

Members of the Committee were given the opportunity to ask questions of the Chief 
Executive of InvestSK and its board members. In the first instance members were 
interested in the case for not providing these activities through the Council and what 
informed the shape and scope of InvestSK. The scope focused on generating a positive 
economic impact while the key themes had been identified as having a positive 
economic impact benefitted from being delivered in an integrated way. The rationale for 
InvestSK was providing a mechanism for the private sector to converse with the council 
on a similar footing. As a private company, InvestSK was able to operate remotely from 
the Council and engage directly, business to business. At the same time it was close 
enough to the Council to put forward any suggestions. The company also provided 
access to funding pots that would not, otherwise, be available for the Council to access.

A comparison was drawn with a number of other companies that provided similar 
services, including Opportunity Peterborough, Invest Gainsborough and a further 
company in Norfolk. These companies had found ways to become self-sufficient and 
generate income independently of public sector funding.

Members asked about the methodology that was used to calculate the figures around 
economic value. Any figures provided by external parties had been challenged to verify 
their robustness. The committee was advised that the calculations were made using an 
industry standard and verified by an adviser who had previously worked with regional 
development agencies.

Clarification was sought that the jobs that had been created as a result of the work of 
InvestSK were not internal roles. An explanation was given stating that the jobs referred 
to in the presentation had all been within local businesses and not InvestSK.

Action point

- Members asked for InvestSK to circulate the breakdown of newly created 
jobs

In response to a question, Members were advised that, were a business looking to grow 
and there were challenges around recruitment or property, InvestSK could use its 
contacts to find out about available opportunities at a very early stage.

When asked about InvestSK’s core funding, Members were informed that it was used to 
cover wages, overheads and office running costs. Further clarification was sought about 
whether the services provided through the core funding given to InvestSK were services 
that had previously been provided by the Council. There were also questions about 
which functions sat with InvestSK and which sat with the Council; the specific example 
was given of the arts centres. Members were informed that some of the staff who 
worked for InvestSK were seconded from the Council. Reference was also made to the 

6



added value that could come from the Involvement of InvestSK. Again, the example was 
given of work around arts centres, building the audience base and growing the provision 
of arts activity outside the arts centres.

One Member asked why the type of company had been selected in preference to a 
company limited by shares or delivery through the Council. It was suggested that if 
InvestSK had been a company limited by shares, then the Council would have had 
increased visibility of where its funding went.

One question addressed the terms and conditions of the staff that were employed 
directly by InvestSK; the lower pension contributions constituted a saving per head. 
Those staff who were seconded to InvestSK retained the terms and conditions of their 
council employment.

Action Point

- Members asked InvestSK for the circulation of a list setting out which 
officers were on secondment to InvestSK and who worked directly for the 
company

A piece of work was underway to ensure the alignment of priorities between InvestSK 
and the Council. This was subject to any proposals working through the Council’s 
decision-making processes.

Reference was made to conversations to which some members had been party, that 
had considered whether the services provided through InvestSK could be brought back 
in-house and whether there would be a timeframe attached to that. It was clarified that 
to date no decision had been made to bring the service within house. Members were 
reassured that discussions about InvestSK and its priorities would be presented to the 
Companies Committee for discussion.

Conversation moved to the relationship between InvestSK and the Lincolnshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP). The Chief Executive of InvestSK reported that it enjoyed 
good relationships with the LEP, which had seen the benefit of having a local agency 
like InvestSK on the ground.

One member referred to the calling-in of the decision to form InvestSK, stating that it 
had predominantly been on the pretext of transparency. Reference was made to the 
requirement for the Council to publish expenditure in excess of £500, but the same 
provision was not available for council-owned companies. 

A question was asked about a PR contract that had been let to a company that was not 
based within South Kesteven. Members were advised that contacts within the district 
had been exhausted and it had therefore been necessary to let the contract outside the 
district. The contract was a short-term retainer at a time when InvestSK was under-
staffed. The result of the contract was an increased media spread for South Kesteven in 
the international marketplace.

7



Members asked where the direction for the company came from, challenging whether it 
came through the directors or the Chief Executive. The directors set the Memorandum 
of Understanding, which was reviewed on a regular basis. Members were also 
interested in the governance relationship between the directors and the person 
undertaking operational management. Clarification was provided, which stated that the 
Board directed what it wanted the company to do and the responsibility for the 
operational running and management of the company sat with the Chief Executive. It 
was noted that since the recent change in directors, the number of board meetings had 
increased. Members asked whether those meetings were minuted.

Action Point

- Members requested a copy of the minutes from the InvestSK AGM that 
signed-off the accounts; the Chief Executive of InvestSK to provide this

The Committee queried whether a statement on page 27 of the agenda reports pack 
regarding Directors’ Indemnity Insurance was correct as it referred to provision of an 
indemnity when an outcome was caused by negligence.

Action Point

- Clarification to be provided on the legal position as to whether an 
indemnity would be provided in the event of negligence

In response to a question on the origin of the vision for InvestSK, members were 
advised that it featured in the governance manual and was derived from the 
Memorandum of Understanding.

Members requested sight of accounts for InvestSK and suggested a proposal should be 
produced that would meet the requirements of the Committee in terms of transparency 
without creating an industry to produce them. There were also questions about the type 
of information that Members could ask for; one example that was given was details of 
the grants awarded by InvestSK. 

When undertaking work on grants, staff from InvestSK worked with the group to 
understand what they needed and whether that grant would be viable. Anecdotal 
feedback was provided that indicated that grant funding was difficult to access because 
there was no prescribed format. The Chief Executive for InvestSK said that very little 
funding had been awarded to date and before any group would receive funds they 
would need to provide a clear statement about what the money would be spent on.

Action point

- The Chief Executive and Directors of InvestSK to produce a proposal for 
sharing accounts with the Companies Committee

One of the questions put by members challenged which outcomes would still have been 
achieved had InvestSK not been created. Members also asked for greater clarity around 

8



the outcomes that had already been achieved and those that would be delivered in the 
future. 

Clarification was provided in respect of the funding for the university centre and the high 
street bids. An indication had been received that a bid to Historic England had been 
successful. An award of £140,000 had also been made to develop a business case to 
attract monies through the future high streets fund. The Chief Executive of InvestSK 
stated that he did not believe that these three bigger pieces of funding would have been 
secured without InvestSK’s involvement. He also believed that the level of engagement 
with businesses had only been secured because of the work that had been undertaken 
by the team.

The second half of the presentation focussed on the InvestSK business plan, referring 
to financial review, potential alternative income and how sources of income could shift 
as the company develops.

Members were given the opportunity to discuss and make comment on the business 
plan. Several members suggested that, for a strategic plan, the document was long. 
The rationale was that the first part of the business plan constituted the strategic 
business plan while the second half captured thematic work programmes for the 
company’s core workstreams. Some members indicated that they found the information 
on the workstreams to be helpful.

There was interest amongst members of the Committee about the income streams 
coming back into the Council. Benefits highlighted by the InvestSK Chief Executive 
included business rates growth, attracting external funding to deliver interventions, and 
exploring what could be marketable to generate income. It was suggested that some 
enhanced services could be developed for which charges could be levied or templates 
that could be sold to other companies. 

Members recognised the business plan as a working document and suggested that it 
should be reviewed and updated, then brought back before the committee in the next 
six-months. Members were also interested in how InvestSK could follow a self-funding 
model like Opportunity Peterborough and Invest Gainsborough. Members noted that in 
its first five years of trading, Opportunity Peterborough was predominantly funded by the 
public sector. As it started to develop, external funding programmes became a key 
workstream. It won a contract to provide services to its Local Enterprise Partnership and 
achieved a £3m grant for the smart city agenda. It also started selling its services to 
other local authorities, including South Kesteven, South Holland and Fenland district 
councils and developed a successful membership model.

There was the potential for the Council to procure services through InvestSK, as well as 
possible opportunities for InvestSK to acquire assets that it could rent out as a business 
hub.

Members’ discussion turned to the date on the business plan, which had been produced 
in February 2019; some comments suggested that the business plan should have been 
made available at an earlier time. Members felt that it was time for the plan to be 

9



refreshed, with the suggestion made that it should include more SMART deliverables 
and ambitious targets. The objectives were considered to be broad and some concern 
was expressed about the risk of ‘mission creep’. The InvestSK Chief Executive did not 
consider that there had been mission creep and the company had responded to the 
areas set out in the Memorandum of Understanding. There was however, a recognition 
that there was the opportunity to ensure that those areas generated income, which was 
the next stage of the company’s development.

The Committee also noted that there was no indication of a communications strategy. 
Councillors felt that InvestSK needed to develop a communication strategy with 
Members who could then cascade information to their electorate. One of the Directors 
stated that they had raised this matter with InvestSK’s Chief Executive, highlighting the 
perception that the company was a secret organisation that sat outside the Council but 
was funded by taxpayers. Since that meeting, staff from InvestSK had met with 
members to try and demystify their perceptions, however it was recognised that it was 
also important to demystify the company for the public.

One member queried the reference to 3-year budgets within the business plan 
document; these had not been included. Instead, the documents that were shared with 
the Committee included the first-year budget. One member also indicated that they 
would like to see the actual spend against budgeted figures to identify any variances.

Action Point

- Copies of the 3-year budget projection to be circulated to committee 
members; information to be provided by InvestSK

A question was raised about sports development activity that had taken place earlier in 
the year and when feedback might be shared. The Chief Executive from InvestSK said 
that work was part of the Cultural Strategy and would inform leisure opportunities across 
the district. The cultural strategy would go through the Culture and Visitor Economy 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Action Point

- InvestSK to update its business plan and forward to the committee for 
consideration within the proceeding 6-months

5. Company overviews

Committee members asked whether each of the committees that had provided updates 
had business plans, and, if so, requested access to them at the earliest possible 
opportunity. The Chairman stated that the discussion on the work programme would 
determine what information the Committee wanted to see and inform the time at which 
matters would be brought before the Committee.

(a) DeliverSK

10



The Committee noted the update from DeliverSK.

(b) Wherrys Lane Management Limited

The Committee noted the update from Wherry’s Lane Management Limited.

(c) EnvironmentSK

The Committee noted the update from EnvironmentSK.

(d) East Midlands Building Control

The Committee noted the update from East Midlands Building Control.

(e) Gravitas Housing

The Committee noted the update from Gravitas Housing.

6. Work Programme

Members noted that an additional meeting of the Committee had been added on 7 
January 2020. Items on that agenda were HomesSK and DeliverSK. Members agreed 
that the next scheduled meeting on 4 February 2019 would focus on EnvironmentSK.

Members asked for assurance that arrangements would be in place to enable the 
monitoring of actual expenditure and variances. This would give the Committee 
confidence that it knew where money was being spent. A request was also made for 
access to the companies’ audited accounts; it was noted that not all the companies had 
completed a full trading year and therefore audited accounts were not yet available. 

A suggestion was made that benchmarking would be helpful to see how the operation 
and performance of South Kesteven District Council’s companies compared with similar 
companies operating elsewhere.

The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Committee agreed to look at each of the 
companies and review their milestones to inform the work programme for the 
Committee.

7. Close of meeting

The meeting was closed at 15:54.

11



This page is intentionally left blank



Companies Committee
7 January 2019

Report of: Cllr Barry Dobson
Deputy Leader of the Council

        

Housing Delivery in South Kesteven
The following report is presented to the Companies Committee to provide an overview of the options 
available to promote housing delivery within the district.  The report seeks approval to pursue a 
selection process for a strategic partner to support the delivery of new homes and seeks the views of 
Companies Committee on the selection process.

Report Author

Ken Lyon, Assistant Chief Executive- Housing Delivery, SKDC

01476 406080 – Ken Lyon      

Ken.lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Ken Lyon (Assistant Chief Executive- Housing 
Delivery) 18 December 2019

Approved by: Harry Rai (Interim Strategic Director for Growth) 20 December 2019

Signed off by: Paul Thomas (Interim Chief Executive) 20 December 2019

It is recommended that the Companies Committee 

1. Endorses the Council’s strategic ambitions for housing growth and delivery in the District;
2. Notes the proposed HRA housing development programme for the next 5 years;
3. Recommends to Cabinet that the selection process for a strategic partner is pursued to the 

next stage of seeking bids, to properly form a view as to whether an investment partnership is 
viable and could deliver additional homes, including affordable housing in the District;

4. Provides comments to the Deputy Leader on the Draft Partner selection process;
5. Receives feedback on stage 1 of the partner selection process in April 2020. 

13

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:Ken.lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk


Companies Committee
7 January 2020Housing Delivery in 

South Kesteven
Witham Room, South Kesteven House

SKDC’s strategic ambition   

The Council has a strategic aim to grow the local economy and deliver sustainable 
communities. In order to achieve this ambition, the District will need to see a greater number 
of new, affordable homes being built.

In some parts of the District, the housing market is delivering the rate of growth needed, but 
in others the rate of home building and the types of homes being built are insufficient to 
support the planned growth.

South Kesteven has challenging Local Plan housing delivery targets, with the need to build a 
further 13,500 homes by 2036. Some key metrics that illustrate the housing challenge for the 
District are:

 81% of Local Plan house building targets were met cumulatively between 2011/12 and 
2018/19; of those 18% were affordable.

 31% of homes built in South Kesteven since 2011/12 were in Grantham (Local Plan target 
is 50%)

 Working age population is forecast to fall from 49.2% in 2016/17 to 43.1% by 2029/30
 Mean house price to earnings ratio have increased from 5.7 in 2013 to 7.9 in 2018 

SKDC in collaboration with other strategic stakeholders are pursuing numerous initiatives that 
support the overall ambition:

 Housing Infrastructure Funding developing the Grantham Southern Relief Road, 
improving transport infrastructure and opening new sites up for development

 Future High Street Funding Bid – supporting the physical regeneration of Grantham town 
centre

 Proposals for significant new housing developments – Spitalgate Heath, Prince William of 
Gloucester Barracks and Stamford North

 An HRA business plan looking to invest £60m in new Council houses over the next 5 
years

 Changing the planning requirement for affordable housing to reflect the differing market 
situations across the district

14



The Housing Challenge

Due to the historic underperformance in Housing Delivery, South Kesteven was required to 
develop a Housing Delivery Test Action plan, which provides a diagnostic of housing delivery 
in the district, and a range of proposed actions that the Council and other stakeholders 
should undertake to improve that delivery.  The Housing Delivery Test Action Plan concludes 
“in the absence of economic stimulus, which the emerging Local Plan is predicated on, it 
seems inevitable the Council will continually fail to deliver its housing targets”.  

There is also the very real challenge of delivering affordable homes in the district, which has 
seen the average house prices to earnings ratio rise to 7.9, one of the highest in the region.  
Affordability issues are particularly acute in the south of the District. 

There are some specific challenges within the District:
 The Council has very little General Fund land on which to deliver its own market housing 
 There are a limited number of landowners in the district that own a relatively large 

proportion of land suitable for housing development – thus, restricting supply
 The viability of Grantham for housing projects is very limiting in the private sector and at 

present the sales absorption rate per annum is very small with weak demand  

The Council has been exploring ways in which it can motivate the housing market to grow the 
number and types of new homes in the District, in order to retain local skills and boost local 
communities.  This has included informal discussion with a range of housing sector experts 
including house builders, registered providers (formerly known as Registered Social 
Landlords), housing development companies and Homes England.  This has identified a 
desire across many organisations to work in collaboration with the Council in a more formal 
manner and options have been further explored and refined with external legal and financial 
advice.

Purpose of the report

In the context of the Council’s strategic aim to deliver new homes, this report invites the 
Companies Committee to consider how the strategic ambition for housing growth might be 
delivered and asks the Committee to make recommendations to Cabinet to explore private 
sector support to make a positive impact in housing growth. One of the options is to consider 
an investment partnership, and for this reason Companies Committee’s views are being 
sought at this early stage.

Available Options   

A number of options are available to SKDC, which are set out below.

1. Do nothing

The Council could choose not to proactively intervene, but to leave the housing market to 
develop at its own pace. The evidence to date and the Housing Delivery Test 
demonstrate that this approach is unlikely to successfully deliver against the 
Government’s housing targets or the type of sustainable communities that the Council’s 
vision articulates.

2. Build or facilitate the delivery of social housing

15



SKDC has developed a proposal to invest circa £60m over the next 5 years in an 
ambitious programme to deliver 500 new Council Houses. New build homes developed 
through this route contribute significantly to the social rented sector and will enable SKDC 
to maintain and grow its stock and will more than offset right to buy sales during this 
period. 

3. Enter into site specific development agreements

The Council can procure site by site housing developments, whereby the Council would 
assemble land and enter into a development agreement to build houses. 

The Council would need to fund such developments entirely at its own financial risk and 
procure the development partner and entire supply chain. Alternatively, it could find a 
partner to share this risk and enter into a partnership agreement. 

An alternative delivery option would be through the wholly owned company Gravitas 
Housing Ltd, which could also enter in to partnership arrangements.  Gravitas Housing 
Ltd has, to date, not delivered large scale projects, however it could become an 
appropriate vehicle for larger scale housing delivery.  If there was a desire to expand its 
role then investment would be required. 

4. Strategic partnership in a joint venture

Many councils have created highly successful partnerships with a single partner, who
would invest time, money and expertise, particularly where traditional approaches have 
failed to deliver the interventions needed. The premise for such a partnership would be to 
work in collaboration, with the Council and the partner sharing financial risk and reward 
and leveraging in grants and other funding. A joint venture investment partnership would 
be exempt from procurement rules and would have the flexibility to work with land owners 
and others to develop more creative solutions than traditional methods would bring. This 
is particularly important in the context of South Kesteven, where the greatest challenges 
to house building are the limited supply of land and the demand for homes in certain 
areas in the District such as Grantham.  

This option allows each partner to play to their strengths, shares risk with housing delivery 
experts and provides flexibility for adapting the approach on a site-by-site basis. 

In the absence of significant landholdings, SKDC can use its borrowing capabilities, 
subject to robust financial business cases for individual schemes and affordability tests, 
while the partner(s) in specific projects would contribute both financially and/or by 
contributing land. Feedback from the market to date has demonstrated that given SKDC’s 
situation (i.e. limited direct landholdings) an investment partnership with an organisation 
with similar long term objectives, which is able to flex to meet a number of different market 
situations is likely to be more effective than a directly procured solution. 

Homes England have shown a keen interest in working with South Kesteven to develop 
this model.

Developing a strategic partnership has several key advantages:
 SKDC utilises skills and expertise of the partner(s) where it has limited experience, 

such as land assembly and managing large scale housing developments
 Shared risk, reward and investment levels, maximising the impact of any SKDC 

investment 

16



 Flexibility to adapt for different sites and economic conditions 
A strategic investment partnership could also fit with many of the principles of the 
Housing Delivery Test Action Plan, addressing two particular aims:
o Accelerating delivery with higher levels of affordable housing
o Working more closely with landowners and developers to shape and steer the 

market

Should Companies Committee and Cabinet approve the recommendations then the next 
stage will be to begin the process of selecting a strategic partner.  A key part of the selection 
process would be for the partner to set out how it could meet the district’s challenges (in ‘The 
Housing Challenge’ section above) and produce a viable solution.  This would give further 
evidence that the wider housing market feels that the existing challenges can be overcome, 
prior to committing to form a partnership.

It is proposed that Companies Committee receive feedback from stage 1 of the selection 
process in April 2020.

Appraisal of options

Of the options above, it is recommended that the Council continues to deliver its housing 
growth ambitions through the HRA development programme and continues existing 
developments with Gravitas Housing Ltd.

Soft market testing undertaken to date suggests that a joint venture partnership with the 
private sector would enhance the Council’s current delivery of homes, but this needs testing 
further with potential housing sector partners. This would be done through a partner selection 
process, whereby potential partners are invited to put forward South Kesteven based 
proposals for how such a partnership would add value and bring about accelerated 
development of mixed-tenure homes, including an emphasis on affordable homes.  A 
partnership could be formed as a new vehicle or linked to Gravitas Housing Ltd.

Therefore, it is also recommended that the Council continues with a selection process for a 
strategic partner.  The selection process has already been worked up in draft and is attached 
in Appendix 1.  It is proposed that the process would be run by officers with Cabinet Member 
oversight.  There is an existing budgetary commitment for 2020/21 for the continuation of this 
process and there is no additional budgetary commitment required.  

Following the completion of the partner selection process, it is anticipated that Companies 
Committee will be presented with a further report for scrutiny and approval.  If the decision is 
taken to proceed with an investment partnership, then a business plan developed alongside 
the preferred partner will be produced prior to formally signing up to any partnership.

Financial implications

The financial implications at this stage of the proposal cannot be calculated as this will be 
dependant upon the scale of the ambition and the relative investment levels of each 
partner should a collaborative joint venture approach be approved.  As the funding will be 
General Fund specific, funding levels and the associated borrowing costs will need to be 
assessed from an affordability perspective and having regard for other investment 
ambitions that will require funding.  

Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

17



Legal implications

The Council has the vires, or legal powers, to intervene in the housing market in the ways 
set out in this paper. This is through the Localism Act 2010 and through other statutory 
powers to trade, borrow, invest, and to acquire and dispose of land. The council also has 
powers under housing legislation to acquire land for housing purposes. In a recent case, 
R(Peters) v London Borough of Haringey [2018] EWHC 192 (Admin), the High Court gave 
guidance that a Council can enter into investment partnerships where the dominant 
purpose is to stimulate development and growth in the district.

The Council has a number of options as to how it might establish such a strategic 
partnership, which could be through existing company or LLP structures, or by 
establishing a new entity. If this proposal moves forward, detailed advice will be provided 
to enable members to decide on the most appropriate corporate structure to deliver such 
a partnership.

Shahin Ismail, Director of Law

Equality and safeguarding implications

Equality Analysis has been carried out and is contained in Appendix 2.  In summary the 
overall assessment is that market intervention has the potential to be positive.

Risks and mitigation

There are limited risks associated with undertaking the next phase of the partner selection 
process as Companies Committee and Cabinet will have further opportunities to 
scrutinise any proposed approach before formalising any new approach.

However it is important that SKDC communicates effectively with potential partners 
throughout the process to mitigate any reputational risk.

Recommendations to Companies Committee

It is recommended that companies committee:

1. Endorses the Council’s strategic ambitions for housing growth and delivery in the District;
2. Notes the proposed HRA housing development programme for the next 5 years;
3. Recommends to Cabinet that the selection process for a strategic partner is pursued to 

the next stage of seeking bids, to properly form a view as to whether an investment 
partnership is viable and could deliver additional homes, including affordable housing in 
the District;

4. Provides comments to the Deputy Leader on the Draft Partner selection process;
5. Receives feedback on stage 1 of the partner selection process in April 2020. 

Appendices

1. Draft Partner Selection Questionnaire;
2. Equality Analysis.

Other Documents Referred to in this Report

1. South Kesteven Housing Delivery Test Action Plan - 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25157&p=0 

18

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25157&p=0


APPENDIX 1: OVERVIEW OF PARTNER SELECTION PROCESS

DATE: DECEMBER 2019

Purpose of Document:

To provide Companies Committee and Cabinet with an overview of the proposed process for 
selecting an investment partner to support housing delivery in South Kesteven.

Soft market testing undertaken to date suggests that a joint venture partnership with the private 
sector would enhance the Council’s current delivery of homes, but this needs testing further with 
potential housing sector partners. This would be done through a partner selection process, whereby 
potential partners are invited to put forward South Kesteven based proposals for how such a 
partnership would add value and bring about accelerated development of mixed-tenure homes, 
including an emphasis on affordable homes.  

The structure, funding and control of the partnership are all variable elements at this juncture, 
however the potential partner needs to bring innovation and expertise to the initial part of the 
process, which is designed to ask them to help the council provide more social and affordable 
housing faster.  

Background and Overview:

South Kesteven District Council is exploring options to promote the delivery of housing of all tenures 
within the District to support the achievement of the Local Plan targets.  Consideration is being given 
to developing an investment partnership alongside an existing player in the housing sector, with 
aligned objectives and ethos, to ascertain whether this approach will support delivery.  Soft market 
testing has been undertaken with a cross-section of stakeholders during 2019, which has 
demonstrated that there is likely to be appetite within the sector for such a partnership.  The 
process proposed below has been developed alongside potential partners and seeks to achieve the 
following:

 Robustness in decision making – i.e. clear and auditable decisions following a transparent 
assessment process

 Agility and value for money – i.e. process is relatively flexible (it can be shortened if a clear 
preferred partner has been identified) and seeks to minimise costs from both the Council 
and potential bidders; it also seeks to minimise overhead costs of the partnership and 
provides a route for efficiently stopping the partnership at the end of any development if it 
is not working for any of the partners

 Ability to embed innovation and best practice – i.e. the approach set out is outcome 
focused, rather than prescriptive about inputs/outputs, which is designed to enable best 
practice and innovation from potential partners in meeting the required outcomes during 
the bidding process

If Companies Committee and Cabinet support the approach it is anticipated that a preferred partner 
will be identified in the summer of 2020.

Proposed Approach and Reporting:

The proposed approach is to select a strategic partner and does not include purchasing goods or 
services, it is therefore not a public procurement exercise as regulated by the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015.  However, the proposed approach seeks to embed best practice from public 
procurement and includes learning from Competitive Dialogue processes undertaken elsewhere.

The proposed approach, including reporting requirements is as follows:

19



Activity Timeframes Number of 
Bidders

Stage 1 – Written 
Submissions

Written submission from bidders, in response to SKDC 
documentation, will include:

- Response to the housing challenge in South Kesteven
- How partners align with SKDC ethos and strategic 

ambition
- Examples and results of previous approaches
- How partnership would work on indicative reference 

sites within South Kesteven

Late Jan – 
mid April 
2020

Unlimited

Assessment /
Shortlisting

SKDC officers to assess suitability of bidders and make 
recommendations for next stage, including:

- Whether to progress to dialogue stage
- Which bidders to progress
- Identifying any risks or concerns

Feedback on Stage 1 will be provided to Companies Committee

(If there is a clear leader at this stage then a preferred bidder 
could be determined at this stage and stage 2 bypassed)

Late April 
2020

NA

Stage 2 – 
Dialogue/ 
Negotiations 
with shortlisted 
bidders

Dialogue between SKDC and bidders, based on written 
response and further documentation by SKDC, will include:

- Clarifications on written submission from bidders and 
opportunities to maximise outcomes

- Development of draft partnership agreement
- Agreements of housing quality targets for the 

partnership

May – 
August 
2020

2 (maximum 
of 3 in 
exceptional 
circumstances)

Recommendation 
as to whether to 
proceed and 
selection of 
preferred partner

Assessment as to whether a strategic partnership is viable and 
will add to housing delivery in South Kesteven.  If the 
recommendation is to proceed with a strategic partnership, 
then SKDC will select a preferred partner and recommend an 
appropriate delivery vehicle.

Report to Companies Committee, relevant Scrutiny Committees 
and Cabinet with a recommendation as to whether to proceed 
and selection of preferred partner

September 
2020

1

Sign up to any 
partnership

Should there be a recommendation to proceed the following 
activity will take place:

- Development of a Business Plan
- Completion and signing partnership agreement
- Potential to develop sites on a procured basis with 

preferred partner prior to formalising partnership

Report to Companies Committee, Relevant Scrutiny 
Committees, Cabinet and Full Council on the proposed way 
forward including any financial implications

September 
2020 – April 
2021

1

The draft paper for stage 1 (written submission) are attached to this document.

20



South Kesteven Housing Joint Venture - Partner Selection 
Questionnaire

This document will be used as part of the partner selection process to enter into an 
Investment Partnership with South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) for the delivery 
of new homes within the district.  This is a selection process for a partner or partners 
who would form a strategic partnership with SKDC (which for the purposes of this 
document has been given the working name of SK Housing JV).  It is not intended 
that the provision of supplies, services or works are being selected at this time, we 
expect that once created, SK Housing JV will be responsible for selecting the supply 
chain it intends to use (which may vary from site to site).  We do however expect that 
any prospective partner has experience within the housing sector, in understanding 
site viability, land assembly and overseeing a selected supply chain.  This is not a 
public procurement exercise as regulated by the Public Contract Regulations 2015.

Notes for completion

1. Use of “SKDC”, includes officers, members and anyone else working on 
behalf of the contracting authority as part of this partnership development.

2. “You” / “Your” refers to any organisation completing this selection 
questionnaire i.e. the legal entity responsible for the information provided. It is 
intended to cover any economic operator as defined by the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 (referred to as the “regulations”) and could be a registered 
company; the lead contact for a group of economic operators; charitable 
organisation; Housing Association, Voluntary Community and Social 
Enterprise (VCSE); Special Purpose Vehicle; or other form of entity.

3. Please ensure that all questions are completed in full, and in the format 
requested. If the question does not apply to you, please state ‘N/A’. Should 
you need to provide additional information in response to the questions, 
please submit a clearly identified annex.

4. For Part 1 every organisation that is being relied on to meet the selection 
must complete and submit the self-declaration. 

5. For answers to Part 2 & 3 - If you are bidding on behalf of a group, for 
example, a consortium, you should complete all of the questions on behalf of 
the consortium, providing one composite response and declaration agreed by 
all consortium members.

Potential Partner Information and Exclusion Grounds: Part 1

Part 1 is a self-declaration, made by you (as the potential partner), to SKDC to 
confirm that there are no grounds on which your application should be excluded.

If there are apparent grounds for exclusion, there is an opportunity to provide more 
details and any measures you have taken to rectify the situation.

If you are joining a group of organisations, joint ventures and partnerships, each 
organisation in that group must complete the answers to Part 1 and sign the 
declaration. 

Key principles: Part 2
If you are bidding on behalf of a group (consortium), you should complete all of the 
selection questions on behalf of the consortium.

If the relevant documentary evidence referred to in the Selection Questionnaire is not 
provided upon request and within 10 working days, we reserve the right to discount 
your bid.

21



Responses given within Part 2 may be incorporated in whole or part into the formal 
partnership documentation.

Reference sites and approach for example sites: Part 3
The questions in this section for examples of previous joint working and ask how you 
would approach the evaluation and investment into funding development on a range 
of sites.  Please note that none of the sites in Section 7 are specifically reserved for 
SK Housing JV or housing development in general.  Rather, they are intended as 
representative to the types of circumstances, opportunities and challenges for 
residential development within South Kesteven.  The answers in this section will be 
used to validate the responses given in Part 2.

Consequences of misrepresentation
Please take care when completing the questionnaire and ensure that you have fully 
disclosed all appropriate information. 

If you seriously misrepresent any factual information in filling in the Selection 
Questionnaire, and so induce SKDC to enter into a partnership with your 
organisation, there may be significant consequences which may include:

 Exclusion from other bidding or procurement processes held by South 
Kesteven District Council for up to three years

 The partnership may be dissolved
 Actions taken to recover costs
 If fraud, or fraudulent intent, can be proved, you and/or your responsible 

officer(s) may be prosecuted

Submission
[Add process for submission]

Assessment of potential partners
The questions in Part 1 are pass/fail and will be used to exclude bids where 
responses do not meet requirements or where the expected investment commitment 
would be disproportionate to the turnover of the bidding organisation(s).

Each question in Part 2 will be scored on a 0-10 point scale, with the following 
scoring system:
Score Explanation
0 No response or response that doesn’t align with the core principles 

of SKDC or would not lead to the outcomes required by SKDC
2 Weak answer that doesn’t answer some of the key outcomes 

desired by SKDC
4 Partial answer that meets majority of SKDC’s requirements, but with 

minor omissions
6 Meets SKDC requirements
8 Exceeded requirements has elements of value added or industry 

best practice in addition to SKDC’s requirements
10 Far exceeds SKDC requirements, or creates significant additional 

benefits not expected as part of the bid

Each question will be weighted as part of the overall scoring.  That weighting 
is displayed next to each question.

So, for example if the bidder scores a 5 on a question weighted 20%, their 
score would be calculated as follows:

5/10 x 20% = 10%

22



Responses to Part 2 (as moderated by responses to Part 3, see below) are 
worth 80% of the overall score.

Upon bid return, several assessors will independently score each question 
within their area of expertise.  They will then meet to moderate and agree a 
score.  In the exceptional circumstances where a score cannot be agreed 
between the panel, then the arithmetic (mean) average of the assessors 
scores will be used for that question.

Answers in Part 3 will be used to moderate the initial score and an adjustment 
(either up or down) could be made where additional information is provided or 
inconsistencies with answers in Part 2 are discovered.

Next steps

The Council reserves the right to conduct a negotiation with the highest 
scoring bidders, this might be either:

 The highest scoring bidder where there is a significant gap in the 
scores to the next placed bidders (i.e. a gap of 5% or over); or

 The two highest scoring bidders where there is a significant gap in the 
scores to the next placed bidder (i.e. a gap of 5% or over); or

 The three highest scoring bidders where there is no significant gap (5% 
or under) between them. 

These bidders will be asked to attend one or more meetings with senior 
officers/Members from the Council to further discuss how the partnership 
would work. The results of these meetings will be used to validate the scores 
previously given for Part 2 (as validated by Part 3 responses). 

These bidders will also be asked to submit a marked up draft partnership 
agreement, this mark up will be worth the remaining 20% of the overall score 
and will be scored using the scoring table above. 

Where only the highest placed bidder was invited for further negotiation and to 
submit a mark up draft partnership agreement, and it subsequently becomes 
clear that bidder is unable to deliver the requirements, the Council reserves 
the right to invite the next highest scoring bidder(s) to complete this part of the 
process. 

Bid Costs

Each partner shall be responsible for all their costs associated with the 
preparation submission of its Bid.  SKDC shall not be responsible or liable for 
such costs, regardless of the conduct or outcome of the selection process.

Timetable

[Add timetable for responses]

23



Part 1: Potential Partner Information
Please provide the following information about your approach to this partnership:
Section 1 Bidding model
Question 
number

Question Response

1.1 Are you bidding as the lead contact 
for a group of organisations?

Yes ☐
No ☐
If yes, please complete sections 2-4 for 
each individual organisation and the 
remainder of the documentation 
together.

1.2 Name of group of economic 
operators (if applicable)

1.3 Proposed legal structure if the group 
of organisations intends to form a 
named single legal entity prior to 
signing a contract, if awarded. If you 
do not propose to form a single legal 
entity, please explain the legal 
structure.

 

24



Section 2 Potential partner information
Question 
number

Question Response

2.1 Full name of the potential partner submitting the 
information

2.2 Registered office address (if applicable)

2.3 Registered website address (if applicable)

2.4 Trading status 
a) Public limited company
b) Private limited company 
c) Limited liability partnership 
d) Other partnership 
e) Sole trader 
f) Third sector
g) Other (please specify your trading status)

2.5 Date of registration in country of origin

2.6 Company registration number (if applicable)

2.7 Charity registration number (if applicable)

2.8 Head office Data Universal Numbering System 
(DUNS) if applicable

2.9 Registered VAT number 

2.10 Details of immediate parent company:
 
- Full name of the immediate parent company
- Registered office address (if applicable)
- Registration number (if applicable)
- Head office DUNS number (if applicable)
- Head office VAT number (if applicable)

(Please enter N/A if not applicable)

2.11 Details of ultimate parent company:

- Full name of the ultimate parent company
- Registered office address (if applicable)
- Registration number (if applicable)
- Head office DUNS number (if applicable)
- Head office VAT number (if applicable)

(Please enter N/A if not applicable)

2.12 Will your organisation create a new subsidiary in 
order to enter into this partnership

Yes ☐
No ☐

25



Section 3 Grounds for exclusion

Question 
number

Question Response

The detailed grounds for exclusion of an organisation are set out on this web 
page, which should be referred to before completing these questions. 
Please indicate if, within the past five years you, your organisation or any other 
person who has powers of representation, decision or control in the 
organisation been convicted anywhere in the world of any of the offences within 
the summary below and listed on the webpage. *

3.1 Participation in a criminal organisation Yes ☐
No ☐

3.2 Corruption Yes ☐
No ☐

3.3 Fraud Yes ☐
No ☐

3.4 Terrorist offences or offences linked to 
terrorist activities

Yes ☐
No ☐

3.5 Money laundering or terrorist financing Yes ☐
No ☐

3.6 Child labour and other forms of human 
trafficking

Yes ☐
No ☐ 

3.7 If you have answered yes to any questions 
3.1 to 3.6, please provide further details.
Date of conviction, specify which of the 
grounds listed the conviction was for, and 
the reasons for conviction,
Identity of who has been convicted
If the relevant documentation is available 
electronically, please provide the web 
address, issuing authority, precise 
reference of the documents.

3.8 Has it been established, for your 
organisation by a judicial or administrative 
decision having final and binding effect in 
accordance with the legal provisions of 
any part of the United Kingdom or the 
legal provisions of the country in which the 
organisation is established (if outside the 
UK), that the organisation is in breach of 
obligations related to the payment of tax or 
social security contributions?

Yes ☐
No ☐

3.9 Breach of environmental obligations? Yes ☐
No ☐

3.10 Breach of social obligations?  Yes ☐
No ☐

3.11 Breach of labour law obligations? Yes ☐
No ☐

3.12 Bankrupt or is the subject of insolvency or 
winding-up proceedings, where the 

Yes ☐
No ☐

26

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/551130/List_of_Mandatory_and_Discretionary_Exclusions.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/551130/List_of_Mandatory_and_Discretionary_Exclusions.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/551130/List_of_Mandatory_and_Discretionary_Exclusions.pdf


organisation’s assets are being 
administered by a liquidator or by the 
court, where it is in an arrangement with 
creditors, where its business activities are 
suspended or it is in any analogous 
situation arising from a similar procedure 
under the laws and regulations of any 
State?

3.13 Guilty of grave professional misconduct? Yes ☐
No ☐

3.14 Entered into agreements with other 
economic operators aimed at distorting 
competition?

Yes ☐
No ☐

3.15 If you have answered Yes to any of the 
questions in section 3, please explain what 
measures been taken to demonstrate the 
reliability of the organisation despite the 
existence of a relevant ground for 
exclusion?

* Please note that although this not a procurement exercise SKDC wishes to select a 
partner of good standing and therefore may reject potential partners for the same or 
similar reasons as if it were carrying out a tender

27



Section 4 Economic and Financial Standing 

Question 
Number

Question Response

Are you able to provide a copy of your audited 
accounts for the last two years, if requested?

Yes ☐
No ☐
If no, can you provide 
one of the following. 
Please answer for each 
that you can provide.

(a)  A statement of the turnover, Profit and Loss 
Account/Income Statement, Balance 
Sheet/Statement of Financial Position and Statement 
of Cash Flow for the most recent year of trading for 
this organisation.

Yes ☐
No ☐

(b) A statement of the cash flow forecast for the 
current year and a bank letter outlining the current 
cash and credit position.

Yes ☐
No ☐

4.1

(c) Alternative means of demonstrating financial 
status if any of the above are not available (e.g. 
forecast of turnover for the current year and a 
statement of funding provided by the owners and/or 
the bank, charity accruals accounts or an alternative 
means of demonstrating financial status).

Yes ☐
No ☐

4.2 Are you able to provide parent company accounts if 
requested to at a later stage?

Yes ☐
No ☐

4.3 If yes, would the parent company be willing to 
provide a guarantee if necessary?

Yes ☐
No ☐

4.4 If no, would you be able to obtain a guarantee 
elsewhere (e.g. from a bank)? 

Yes ☐
No ☐

28



Organisation specific details and declaration
I declare that to the best of my knowledge the answers submitted and information 
contained in this document are correct and accurate. 
I declare that, upon request and without delay I will provide the certificates or 
documentary evidence referred to in this document. 
I understand that the information will be used in the selection process to assess my 
organisation’s suitability to be invited to participate further in this partner selection. 
I understand that the authority may reject this submission in its entirety if there is a 
failure to answer all the relevant questions fully, or if false / misleading information or 
content is provided in any section.

Contact details and declaration

Question Response

Contact name

Name of organisation

Role in organisation

Phone number

E-mail address 

Postal address

Signature (electronic is 
acceptable)

Date

29



Part 2: Key Principles

Section 5 Key Deliverables
5.1 Partnership (15%)

SKDC is exploring the best way to increase the number of homes being built in 
the district, including through developing a long-term investment partnership 
with one or more partners, with a series of development/delivery vehicles 
beneath this.  These vehicles could be companies or limited liability 
partnerships themselves, depending on the circumstances.  The following 
diagram represents how this could work in practice on two sites is shown 
below (please note that the splits in ownership for the site specific joint 
ventures is purely indicative)

The partnership would be 50% owned by SKDC and there would be a 
deadlock mechanism if the partners could not agree on a decision.

The Council also has other housing interests via Gravitas, a wholly-owned 
Housing Development Company, and is developing an ambitious HRA 
programme with the aim of delivering 500 new HRA properties in the next 5 
years.

SKDC would welcome any other solutions that you believe would be 
more effective at delivering housing.
 To what degree would you see goods & services provided from within the 

partner(s) existing services and when would you anticipate them being 
procured externally?

 How would your share of development costs/land value be funded?
 What is the minimum rate of return on land / loan that would be required 

(separate to fees on any services provided to SK Housing JV)?
 How would you work with us to maximise the overall positive impact of all 

the housing initiatives in South Kesteven?
 How and when do you see profit being taken by the partners?
 If there is a need to terminate the partnership, how do you see this process 

working?

30



 Are there changes you would propose to make to the overall partnership 
model? If so, please outline your preferred model

31



5.2 Tenure mix (15%)

A key output for the partnership is to support establishing sustainable 
communities through the development of housing with an appropriate mix of 
tenure.  SKDC wishes to develop mixed tenure homes (e.g. affordable rent, 
social, discount for sale, self-build etc) with an aim of circa 50% of the total 
homes Council Houses or other affordable, intermediate housing or other non-
full market products. 

SKDC may wish to purchase some homes at commercially agreed prices from 
the partnership to add to its supply of council houses.  It would also be 
comfortable for some or all other rented accommodation to be sold to a 
partner’s company to manage (or retained in the overall vehicle).
 Are there changes you would make to the target of 50% non-full market 

rate homes? Please explain your rationale
 How would you blend the correct tenure types, designs for homes, gardens 

and open space and size of homes for the particular challenges facing 
South Kesteven’s demographics?

 What is your preferred route for managing rented housing?
 How would you anticipate the partnership accessing funding to support 

financial viability of the non-full market homes?

32



5.3 Land assembly (10%)

SKDC is relatively ‘land poor’ but can access capital relatively cheaply.  
Therefore, where there is an agreed business case South Kesteven can invest 
capital funding for development costs and land assembly. 

Please note that a significant proportion of land in South Kesteven is held by a 
relatively small numbers of landowners.
 How would you approach assembling land in an area such as South 

Kesteven?
 How would your approach differ if land assembly proves unexpectedly 

challenging?

33



5.4 Viability assessment (10%)

SKDC expects that the partnership will produce an Annual Plan, which will be 
approved by the partners and a specific viability assessment on a site by site 
basis.  

This would include intended sites and viability constraints that the partnership 
could operate in for target sites without having to seek further approval from 
outside the partnership.
 Are there changes you would make to this overall approach?
 How would you anticipate the partnership determining whether a site was 

viable?
 Who would undertake this viability assessment?

34



5.5 Community Engagement (5%)

SKDC desire that there will be general community support for the homes built 
and that developments support community cohesion.

 What activities would you recommend to build understanding and support 
for new developments?

 What ongoing measures should be used to check that new purchasers and 
renters within the new developments and the wider community are satisfied 
and/or can raise concerns?

35



5.6 Management of build / supply chain (15%)

SKDC wishes to utilise the local supply chain when appropriate and to 
maximise the benefit to the local economy.

It expects that once operational, it will commence development with up to 100 
homes in the first year and up to 300 in any one year.
 As part of a partnership, how would you determine the most appropriate 

supply chain for each development?
 What level of oversight would you expect there to be of the supply chain 

and how would you expect this to be achieved?
 How does this level of building compare with existing experience and 

capacity to oversee construction of new homes?

36



5.7 Sustainability (10%)

SKDC needs to explore sustainable solutions that will reduce the 
environmental impact of construction, as well as ways to minimise running 
costs for owners/tenants through energy efficiency measures, including water 
efficiency.  It has recently declared a climate emergency and set out its 
ambition to reduce its carbon footprint between now and 2030 and become 
net-zero carbon by 2050.

Additionally, the partnership will need to develop housing solutions that are 
appropriate for South Kesteven in terms of design, materials, layout and 
demographics etc.

 What is your approach to sustainable development?
 What environmentally sustainable solutions have you or other companies 

with whom you are working delivered to date and how successful have they 
been (please provide any metrics)?

 How will you support the partnership to ensure housing solutions are 
appropriately sustainable in South Kesteven?

 How will sustainability considerations be factored into the financial viability?
 How will you ensure that best practice in sustainability is maintained during 

the life of the partnership?

37



5.8 Exemplar Partnership / Ability to expand (5%)

SKDC is keen to see this partnership as an example of best practice within the 
sector (Local Government, Housing and Investment Sector) and can bring a 
positive profile to the district of South Kesteven.

Should the partnership be successful other public bodies may wish to join 
(potentially at the partner level or as a “client”).  
 What could you bring to this partnership to ensure it has elements that can 

mark out one or more sites which can be marketed as an “exemplar” of 
best practice?

 How would you support SK Housing JV to assess a request to build, 
manage or maintain homes on behalf of another developer (possibly as 
part of their affordable homes target)?

 How would you approach a request for admitting other public sector bodies 
to access the partnership?  What factors would the partnership have to 
consider before taking on a wider role?

38



5.9 Training and Development (5%)

SK faces an ageing workforce population over the 20 years thus need to 
ensure good training opportunities to replace the skills of an ageing workforce.  
However, the current 19 – 24 population largely migrates out of the district to 
seek Further and Higher Education.  Therefore, there is a need to continue to 
invest in the further and higher education offer to retain young talent.

There is a large commuter outflow of SK – offering better jobs within the district 
would help attract them to stay and work in SK.  Whilst 13% of SK Businesses 
are within construction, only 4% of SK residents are employed in this sector – 
indicating that either many of these firms are bringing in a workforce from 
outside the district or these businesses consist of a small number of 
employees. 

There is a decrease in residents employed in Skilled Trades Occupations 
(-4.9%) and given the need of the construction sector within the local economic 
structure it is important to ensure that these businesses can continue to attract 
and recruit the right levels of trained workforce locally.  Nationally CITB report 
that the industry is facing difficulties in recruitment; this presents a great 
opportunity for locally qualified people.
 How will you address the challenges in South Kesteven regarding 

recruitment, training and available skills and how will ensure that 
improvements are sustained in the long-term?

 What added value to SK would you bring – what you would invest in the 
District and develop skills because of this partnership (i.e. wider and 
ongoing benefits beyond this programme)?

 In addition are there opportunities for innovation and ‘landmark’ 
investments that could you bring to South Kesteven

39



5.10 Impact on the wider market (10%)

The new homes targets have been consistently missed for several years with 
challenging targets in the new Local Plan.  While we think that this partnership 
will form part of the solution, we do not think it will be the only one.

We are thus keen to consider the impact that the partnership could have on the 
wider house building market in the region and seek to maximise the potential 
for other development while minimising any negative disruption that the 
partnership could bring.
 Where do you see the potential for the partnership to positively impact on 

the wider housing market in South Kesteven and how would you seek to 
maximise this potential?

 What do you foresee as the areas of largest risk of negative disruption to 
the wider housing market in South Kesteven and how would you seek to 
minimise this risk?

40



Part 3: Refence sites and approach for example 
sites
Section 6 Reference Sites
6.1 Relevant examples of partnership working

Please provide details of up to three examples of joint working, involvement in 
joint ventures or other partnership agreements with a construction (preferably 
residential) focus.

The named contact provided will be contacted to provide written evidence to 
confirm the accuracy of the information provided below.

Consortia bids should provide relevant examples of where the consortium has 
delivered similar requirements. If this is not possible (e.g. the consortium is 
newly formed or a Special Purpose Vehicle is to be created for this 
partnership) then three separate examples should be provided between the 
principal member(s) of the proposed consortium or Special Purpose Vehicle. 
Please note that three examples are not required from each member.

Example 1 Example 2 Example 3

Name of partner 
organisation(s) 
worked with
Nature of 
partnership working
Referee’s name

Referee’s 
organisation
Position within the 
organisation
E-mail address

Start date

Completion date

Total value

Share of overall 
value to your 
organisation (%age)

41



Section 7 Example Sites
Please set out how, through SK Housing JV once established, you would 
approach the following sites.  Please consider as a minimum the following (NB 
we are not looking for elements of design or ‘blocking’, just the general approach 
to progressing):

 Options for land acquisition
 Viability assessment
 Funding contributions (any processes for bidding for external funding 

plus any internal process for approving your share of costs)
 Communication approach
 Options for supply chain selection
 Options for supply chain management
 Options for ensuring status and progress is reported back to SK Housing 

JV

(Please note that these sites are chosen to highlight a potential cross-
section of conditions within the district.  There should be no presumption 
that these are target sites for SK Housing JV intervention).

7.1 [Example 1]

42



7.2 [Example 2]

7.3 [Example 3]

43



Overall declaration
I declare that to the best of my knowledge the answers submitted and information 
contained in this document are correct and have been agreed by all organisations (if 
bidding on behalf of a consortium).
I understand that the information will be used in the selection process to assess the 
suitability of my organisation or consortium to be invited to participate further in this 
partner selection.
I understand that any approaches, concepts or principles given in response to 
questions in section 5 may be incorporated into the formal partnership 
documentation.
I understand that reference sites given in response within section 6 may be contacted 
by officers from South Kesteven District Council. 
I understand that the authority may reject this submission in its entirety if there is a 
failure to answer all the relevant questions fully, or if false / misleading information or 
content is provided in any section.

Contact details and declaration

Question Response

Contact name

Name of organisation

Role in organisation

Phone number

E-mail address 

Postal address

Signature (electronic is 
acceptable)

Date

44



Appendix 2

South Kesteven District Council

Equality Impact
(Initial Analysis)

Housing Delivery

Lead officer:
Ken Lyon
Assessors:
Paul Clarke

Service Area:

Housing Delivery

Neutral Assessor:
Carol Drury

Date of Meeting 

11/10/19

45



1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy

Housing Delivery – Developing a partnership for the delivery of new homes 
(with the aim to provide a high proportion of affordable and council housing)

Is this a new or existing policy? New

2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive, or negative 
impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or diversity 
strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local consultations 
evaluation forms, comments and complaints, etc.

Equality Group Does this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups? 

Please state which for each 
group

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative.
If you consider this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why  

Age Positive Criteria for partner selection 
requires demonstration of 
understanding of the 
demographics of South 
Kesteven and how new homes 
will meet the demographic 
needs.

Disability Positive Criteria for partner selection 
requires steps to be taken for 
sustainability of homes – both 
in terms of energy and ease of 
adaptation if needed.

Race None The formation of the 
partnership and development 
of additional homes will not 
impact on race.

Gender 
Reassignment

  

None The formation of the 
partnership and development 
of additional homes will not 
impact on gender 
reassignment.

Religion or 
Belief  

None The formation of the 
partnership and development 
of additional homes will not 
impact people based upon 
their religion or beliefs.  Later 
design decisions may – please 

46



see appendix for further 
details.

Sex

  

None The formation of the 
partnership and development 
of additional homes will not 
impact upon people based 
upon their sex.  

Sexual 
Orientation

None The formation of the 
partnership and development 
of additional homes will not 
impact disproportionately upon 
people based upon their 
sexual orientation.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

None The formation of the 
partnership and development 
of additional homes will not 
impact upon people based 
upon pregnancy or maternity.

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership

None The formation of the 
partnership and development 
of additional homes will not 
impact upon people based 
upon their marital status.

Carers None The formation of the 
partnership and development 
of additional homes will not 
impact upon people based 
upon their caring duties.

Other groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities; 
those with past 
offences)

*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation)

None Site selection decisions, due to 
the need to develop at scale, 
will focus primarily on or 
around town centres.

General 
comments

While the development of a partnership to develop additional 
homes will not create negative impact on equality groups, later 
stages carry a risk doing so.  Annex A lists key stages where a 
negative impact could be introduced and how these can be 
mitigated.

47



3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of the 
proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant consultation 
and key findings)

We reviewed the key strategies of the Council (Council Strategy, Housing 
Strategy, Local Plan and Economic Strategy).

We consulted with Members and a cross-section of potential partners to work 
out whether the aims and principles were likely to be aligned.

We also used local and national data on demographics and housing profiles, 
including the Local Government Association report ‘Understanding Local 
Housing Markets’ detailing housing need in South Kesteven. 

We visited various other local authorities that have developed housing 
solutions via their own companies or working in combination with partners 
(particularly Brighton and Hove and Stoke on Trent), as well as a more wide-
ranging desktop review of direct intervention in the housing market and 
lessons learnt.

We talked to various types of organisation that may form partnerships 
(housing associations, housing developers and construction companies), to 
set out our vision and values and determine that there was sufficient market 
appetite for them.

If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will they be 
addressed?

Site specific issues will be addressed through consultation on plans via 
community consultation and through standard planning processes.

4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be required 
to provide evidence to support the recommendations made). Please check 
one of the options.   

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken.

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality analysis 
or to better promote equality. 

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 and 
b.2 

c) Adverse impact but continue

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer question c.1

48



d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful

b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative equality 
impacts?

b.2 Please provide details of who you will consult on the proposed changes and 
if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale behind that 
decision.  

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality analysis

c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy.

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality analysis. 
You should consider in Stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to reduce the 

negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact.

Signed (Lead Officer):  Ken Lyon
(Name and title) Assistant Chief Executive

Date completed: 31/10/19 

Signed (Neutral Assessor): Carol Drury
(Name and title) Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer

Date signed off:    12/11/19

49



Annex A
Potential Decisions that could have an Equality Impact

Purpose
There are several future decisions and processes that could have an equality impact 
(either positive or negative).  This annex sets out the areas identified that could have an 
equality impact further into the development of a housing delivery partnership.

Elements that could have an Equality Impact

Allocation policy for Affordable Rented Homes and eligibility policy for any discounted 
sales
There is the potential that allocation processes could indirectly discriminate against any 
group of people, through setting requirements that are harder for that group to meet.  For 
example, having a requirement of multiple references from previous landlords may 
indirectly discriminate against younger renters who may not have had multiple previous 
tenancies.

The negatives will be mitigated through the signing of a partnership agreement with the 
successful partner(s).  At this stage we will agree a policy for affordable rent allocation and 
seek to use SKDC’s allocation policy as a template.

Site Development / Site Master Planning
Once sites are identified, master planning will take place.  At this stage there is a risk that 
design decisions may have an indirect discriminatory impact, especially based upon age or 
disability (but to a lesser impact upon any group of people).  Locations of sites may also be 
a factor - distances to local amenities, places of worship, community groups and centres 
may all make a location more or less desirable for people to want to live there.

Any negatives will be mitigated through carrying out an equality impact as part of the 
feasibility considerations of each site.  Statutory planning obligations will also have to be 
fulfilled, which also contain equality and sustainability requirements.  Appropriate use of 
s106 payments can be used to improve transport links to a site as required.

Partnership’s supply chain
Once the partnership is developed, it will be responsible for procuring all the elements of 
the supply chain for designing and building homes.  There will be a need to oversee this to 
ensure that selection processes are non-discriminatory and appropriate checks are made 
to safeguard against modern slavery within any suppliers used.

Design of homes
Designs of specific homes or archetypes may not allow easy or cost-effective adaptations 
to allow people to stay in their own homes for life.  

Any negatives will be mitigated through carrying out an equality impact as part of the 
feasibility considerations of each site.  Statutory planning obligations will also have to be 
fulfilled, which also contain equality and sustainability requirements.  It may be possible to 
lever some Disabled Facilities Grant to build out a small proportion of properties with 
adaptations built in during construction (we are discussing with Stoke on Trent who were 
developing this approach).

50



Street Naming
Choice of street names may influence the desirability of a place to live for groups of people 
and could be indirectly discriminatory if not fully considered.

This will be mitigated through consideration of proposals by the Street Naming and 
Numbering Officer within SKDC.

51



This page is intentionally left blank



Companies Committee: Work Programme
No Company Committee

Date
Review

Lead Officer Current activity Progress

1. Housing Delivery in 
South Kesteven 

7 Jan 2020 Ken Lyon
Assistant Chief 
Executive, Housing 
Delivery

Overview of the options available to 
promote housing delivery within the 
district.  Seeking approval to pursue a 
selection process for a strategic partner 
to support the delivery of new homes 
and the views of Companies Committee 
on the selection process

2. St Martin’s Park, 
Stamford

4 Feb 2020 Jane McDaid 
Assistant Director, 
Growth

To consider the proposal for the 
Council to enter into a collaboration 
Agreement in respect of St. Martin’s 
Park, Stamford

3. Deliver SK 4 Feb 2020 Jane McDaid 
Assistant Director, 
Growth

4. Gravitas 4 Feb 2020 Harry Rai 
Interim Strategic 
Director, Growth

5. Wherry’s Lane 4 Feb 2020 Jane McDaid
Assistant Director, 
Growth

6. Environment SK 28 Apr 2020 Ian Yates 
Assistant Director, 
Commercial & 
Operations

7. Invest SK 28 Apr 2020 Steve Bowyer CEO, 
InvestSK

8. Workshop to be 
arranged

May 2019 Gary Smith
Strategic Director – 
Commercial & 
Operations

53

A
genda Item

 6



9. East Midlands 
Building Control

New Civic year Rob Howbrook 
Building Control 
Lead Officer

Notes:
 Reports to have front-sheets with recommendations   
 Cllr Dawson to be notified of papers proposed to be exempt 

54


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 19 November 2019
	5 Housing Delivery in South Kesteven
	Appendix 1 - Overview of Partner Selection Process
	Appendix 1a - Partner Selection Questionnaire v0.6
	Appendix 2 - Housing Delivery - Initial Assessment v2

	6 Work Programme 2019 20

